Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF INSURANCE,
)


)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No.  
04-1351 DI



)

MICHAEL POLSKY,

)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


The Director of Insurance (“the Director”) has cause to discipline the insurance producer license of Michael Polsky under § 375.141.1(6), RSMo Supp. 2004,
 because Polsky was convicted of two counts of mail fraud and one count of wire fraud, all of which are felonies and crimes of moral turpitude.  


We dismiss Count II because the Director failed to allege facts showing any cause for discipline under § 375.141.1(4) or under § 375.141.1(8), RSMo Supp. 2004.

Procedure


On October 7, 2004, the Director filed a complaint.  Polsky received a copy of our notice of complaint/notice of hearing by personal service on October 21, 2004.  Polsky filed no response.  We held a hearing on March 7, 2005.  Kevin Hall, attorney for the Department of 
Insurance, represented the Director.  Neither Polsky nor any representative appeared.  Our reporter filed the transcript on May 6, 2005. 


On May 27, 2005, we ordered the Director to show what authority we had to find cause to discipline a license that the Director had already revoked.  On June 6, 2005, the Director responded with a brief and an affidavit.
Findings of Fact

1.
The Director licensed Polsky on March 12, 1982, as an insurance agent.  The Director cancelled the license and issued an insurance producer license in its place on January 1, 2003.
  The insurance producer license expired on March 25, 2004.  
2.
On October 1, 2002, a federal grand jury in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri indicted Polsky, his brother, and his sister (“the defendants”) with 12 counts of mail and wire fraud felonies allegedly having taken place from December 2, 1998, to February 5, 2001.  Their car dealership, Polsky Motors, Inc. (“Polsky Motors”) in St. Joseph, Missouri, was failing financially.  The defendants committed the alleged crimes to obtain cars, money, and credit to keep the business operating.  The victims of the alleged schemes included financial and lending companies, government agencies, and Polsky Motors’ employees and customers.
3.
On January 31, 2003, Polsky pled guilty to Counts 1, 3, and 6 of the indictment.
Mail Fraud – Counts 1 and 3
4.
Count 1 alleged:

On or about December 2, 1998 . . . the defendants . . . aiding and abetting each other for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, 
and promises, did place and cause to be placed in the post office and an authorized depository for mail matter to be delivered by the Postal Service, to wit:  a SBA 504 loan application mailed from MoKan Development, St. Joseph, Missouri, to Neida Heusiakvelt, Kansas City, Missouri.


All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2.

5.
Title 18, USC § 1341 provides:
Whoever, having devised . . . any scheme . . . for obtaining money . . . by means of false . . . pretenses . . . for the purpose of executing such scheme . . . places in any . . . authorized depository . . . any . . . thing . . . or receives therefrom, any . . . thing . . . shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both. . . . 

6.
Count 3 alleged:
On or about April 25, 2000 . . . the defendants . . . aiding and abetting each other for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, did place and cause to be placed in the post office and an authorized depository for mail matter to be delivered by the Postal Service, to wit:  a letter containing check number 3030 in the amount of $5,180.22 payable to Managed Health Funding (MHF) drawn on the account of Benefits Assistance Company, mailed from Benefits Assistance Company[.]

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2.

Wire Fraud – Count 6

7.
Count 6 alleged: 
Beginning on or about June 8, 1999, and continuing until on or about November 18, 1999 . . . the defendants . . . aiding and abetting each other for the purpose of executing the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, did transmit and cause to be transmitted in interstate commerce, by means of an electronic communication, the items listed below, on the dates listed below:
COUNT
Six
DATE

06-08-99

ITEM  
Electronic Funds Transfer in the amount of $51,620.60 which included $42,153.60 in receipts received by Polsky Motors for the purchase of a 1999 Lincoln Navigator by Michael and Patricia Morrow on or about May 18, 1999.

TO
Mellon Bank, N.A. Pittsburgh, PA

FROM
Provident Bank   St. Joseph, MO

*
*

*


All in violation of Title 18, United State Code, Sections 1343 and 2.


8.
Title 18, USC § 1343 provides:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both. If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both. 

9.
On July 1, 2003, the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri found Polsky guilty of Counts 1, 3, and 6 and sentenced him to a total term of 33 months on each of the three counts, all to be served concurrently, and three years of parole on each count to run concurrently upon release from imprisonment.  The court ordered total restitution of $990,494.68.
10.
Section 324.100, RSMo Supp. 2003 (text set out in Conclusions of Law), was enacted to require the revocation of professional licenses after the Director of Revenue notifies 
the licensing authority and the licensee that the licensee is delinquent on any state taxes or has failed to file state income tax returns.  To carry out these provisions, the Department of Revenue and the Department of Insurance adopted the following procedures:


6.  These procedures include the Department of Revenue initially notifying each licensee who is not in compliance [with state tax laws], generating certification letters after 90 days that inform the named licensees that their licenses have been revoked, and issuing directives to each applicable agency to classify those identified licenses as revoked.


7.  In response to the Department of Revenue’s directive, the Department [of Insurance] sends a revocation order to the licensee, codes the licensee’s license status as revoked in the 

department’s database, accepts, if submitted, a tax clearance letter issued by the Department of Revenue from the licensee that indicates all outstanding tax liability has been satisfied, and automatically reactivates the licensee’s license retroactive to the original date of issue or renewal date, whichever is applicable.  

*   *   *


10.  The aforementioned procedures and points were applied in declaring the insurance producer license of Michael Polsky as revoked for failure to comply with state income tax laws and, to date, the status of Mr. Polsky’s insurance license remains as revoked.

(Aff. of Mike Duffeck.)

11.
Under these procedures, the Director revoked Polsky’s insurance producer license, effective July 23, 2004.  

12.
On October 7, 2004, the Director filed the instant complaint seeking cause to discipline Polsky’s insurance producer license.  The Director alleges in Count I that Polsky was convicted of felonies involving moral turpitude and in Count II that Polsky “had used fraudulent, coercive or dishonest practices or demonstrated incompetence, untrustworthiness or financial irresponsibility in the conduct of business.”  
Conclusions of Law

Section 621.045.1 gives us jurisdiction to hear the Director’s complaint.  The Director has the burden of proving that an event has occurred that allows him to discipline Polsky’s license.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).
Mootness
The mootness issue arises because Polsky’s license has been in a revoked status since July 23, 2004.  To revoke is “[t]o annul or make void by recalling or taking back.  To cancel, rescind, repeal, or reverse, as to revoke a license or will.”  BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 1322 (6th ed. 1990).  Section 375.141.1, RSMo Supp. 2004, authorizes the Director to “revoke” or “suspend” an insurance producer license after we find cause for discipline.  In addition, subsection 4 provides:


4.  The director may also revoke or suspend pursuant to subsection 1 of this section any license issued by the director where the licensee has failed to renew or has surrendered such license.
Subsection 4 authorizes discipline of the license even if it has expired, as Polsky’s did on 
March 25, 2004, but it does not authorize discipline after it has been suspended or revoked.  The only discipline that the Director may take against Polsky’s license after our finding of cause for discipline is to revoke or suspend.  Because the Director has already revoked Polsky’s license, it appears that Polsky no longer has a license to suspend or revoke.  Therefore, if we found cause for discipline, there would be nothing for the Director to do.  

When a decision on the merits would have no practical effect on any existing controversy, State v. Kiesau, 794 S.W.2d 309, 312 (Mo. App., S.D. 1990), or when it is impossible to grant any effective relief, In re K.E.B., 782 S.W.2d 85, 85-86 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989), the case is moot, and we must dismiss it for lack of jurisdiction.

In our order of May 27, 2005, we asked the Director what authority allows us to find cause for discipline even though Polsky’s license was already revoked.  The Director’s response involves interpreting the law that authorizes revoking professional licenses for failure to comply with state tax laws, § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003.  In 2003, H.B. 600 was enacted into law, effective July 1, 2003.  As finally enacted, the bill repealed 50 statutory sections and enacted 42 new ones.  Among the new ones was § 2, which became § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003.  It provides:

All governmental entities issuing professional licenses, certificates, registrations, or permits pursuant to sections 209.319 to 209.339, RSMo, sections 214.270 to 214.516, RSMo, sections 256.010 to 256.453, RSMo, section 375.014, RSMo, sections 436.005 to 436.071, RSMo, and chapter 317, RSMo, and chapters 324 to 346, RSMo, shall provide the director of revenue with the name and Social Security number of each applicant for licensure with or licensee of such entities within one month of the date the application is filed or at least one month prior to the anticipated renewal of a licensee’s license.  If such licensee is delinquent on any state taxes or has failed to file state income tax returns in the last three years, the director shall then send notice to each such entity and licensee.  In the case of such delinquency or failure to file, the licensee’s license shall be revoked within ninety days after notice of such delinquency or failure to file, unless the director of revenue verifies that such delinquency or failure has been remedied or arrangements have been made to achieve such remedy.  Tax liability paid in protest or reasonably founded disputes with such liability shall be considered paid for the purposes of this section.
L.2003, H.B. 600, §2 p. 650 at 696-7 (92d Gen. Assem., 1st Reg. Sess.) (emphasis added).  We cite this version of the law as § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003.  Pursuant to this law, the Director revoked Polsky’s insurance producer license, effective July 23, 2004. 


In 2004, the legislature amended § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003, effective August 28, 2004, by eliminating the word “revoked” and adding the bolded language:

All governmental entities issuing professional licenses, certificates, registrations, or permits pursuant to sections 209.319 to 209.339, RSMo, sections 214.270 to 214.516, RSMo, sections 256.010 to 
256.453, RSMo, section 375.014, RSMo, sections 436.005 to 436.071, RSMo, and chapter 317, RSMo, and chapters 324 to 346, RSMo, shall provide the director of revenue with the name and Social Security number of each applicant for licensure with or licensee of such entities within one month of the date the application is filed or at least one month prior to the anticipated renewal of a licensee’s license.  If such licensee is delinquent on any state taxes or has failed to file state income tax returns in the last three years, the director shall then send notice to each such 
entity and licensee.  In the case of such delinquency or failure to file, the licensee's license shall be suspended within ninety days after notice of such delinquency or failure to file, unless the director of revenue verifies that such delinquency or failure has been remedied or arrangements have been made to achieve such remedy.  The director of revenue shall, within ten business days of notification to the governmental entity issuing the professional license that the delinquency has been remedied or arrangements have been made to remedy such delinquency, send written notification to the licensee that the delinquency has been remedied. Tax liability paid in protest or reasonably founded disputes with such liability shall be considered paid for the purposes of this section.
L.2004, H.B. 278, § A (92d Gen. Assem., 2d Reg. Sess.) (emphasis added).  We cite this version of the law as § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2004.

The Director contends that the original and amended versions of § 324.010 have the same purpose, to enforce the tax laws of Missouri through a non-discretionary mandate to revoke professional licenses for non-compliance.  The Director contends that this purpose is entirely different from the purpose behind § 375.141.1, RSMo Supp. 2004, which is to give the Director discretion to protect the public from licensees unfit to practice their profession.  The Director contends that there is nothing in the 2003 version of § 324.010 showing that the legislature intended to deprive the Director of his ability to protect the public under § 375.141, RSMo Supp. 2004.  The Director characterizes the amendment in 2004 as the legislature’s clarification of its original intent to use “revoke” in the temporary sense of preventing the licensee from practicing his or her profession for only as long as the licensee fails to meet his or her tax obligations.  


The statutes do not define “revoke” or “suspend.”  Section 1.090 provides:

Words and phrases shall be taken in their plain or ordinary and usual sense, but technical words and phrases having a peculiar and appropriate meaning in law shall be understood according to their technical import.
Because the statutes with which we are concerned use the words “revoke” and “suspend” in a technical and legal sense applying to a statutory licensing framework, we seek their meaning in a legal dictionary.  Suspend means:

To interrupt; to cause to cease for a time; to postpone; to stay, delay, or hinder; to discontinue temporarily, but with an expectation or purpose of resumption.  As a form of censure or discipline, to forbid a public officer, attorney, employee, or ecclesiastical person from performing his duties or exercising his functions for a more or less definite interval of time.

BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 1446 (6th ed. 1990).


We have already set forth the definition of revoke.  It has a more permanent sense than “suspend.”  However, “revoke” can be used in a more indefinite sense as when the license may be reinstated when conditions are complied with, as in § 375.141.5, RSMo Supp. 2004:


5.  Every insurance producer licensed in this state shall notify the director of any change of address, on forms prescribed by the director, within thirty days of the change.  If the failure to notify the director of the change of address results in an inability to serve the insurance producer with a complaint as provided by sections 621.045 to 621.198, RSMo, then the director may immediately revoke the license of the insurance producer until such time as service may be obtained.
(Emphasis added.) 

The primary rule of construction of statutes is to ascertain the lawmakers’ intent, from the words used if possible; and to put upon the language of the Legislature, honestly and faithfully, its plain and rational meaning and to promote its object, and “the manifest purpose of the statute, considered historically,” is properly given consideration.
Board v. Eurostyle, Inc., 998 S.W.2d 810, 814 (Mo. App., S.D. 1999).  

Sometimes statutes are passed at different times that have different purposes, but require actions of the same public official without clearly differentiating what the official is supposed to do when the purposes of the statutes present seemingly conflicting obligations.  That has 

occurred here.  Sections 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003 and 2004, require the Director to enforce a revenue statute intended to punish recalcitrant taxpayers.  Section 375.141.1, RSMo Supp. 2004, authorizes the Director to discipline licenses to protect the public from unfit licensees
 through suspension or revocation.  A licensee may be both a non-compliant taxpayer and unfit to practice his licensed profession, but for completely different reasons.  Both versions of § 324.010 require suspension/revocation of the professional license without any showing of unfitness to practice.  The intent of the 2004 amendment to § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003, is to allow the license to be returned without any showing that he or she is fit to practice.  Fitness to practice is irrelevant to the purposes of that statute.  


However, protecting the public from unfit licensees is the primary purpose of the revocation/suspension powers that § 375.141, RSMo Supp. 2004, gives to the Director.  If the Director had to hold in abeyance disciplinary actions against unfit licensees revoked under 
§ 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003, until after the licensee got the license back when coming into compliance with the tax laws, the licensee could engage in licensed activities to the detriment of the public while the Director has to begin and complete litigation to establish cause for discipline.  

Because “revoke,” as used in both § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003, and § 375.141.1 and .5, RSMo Supp. 2004, can mean either a permanent act or one that is temporary until certain conditions are fulfilled, it is ambiguous, and we look to other rules of statutory interpretation.  
Russell v. Missouri Employees’ Retirement System, 4 S.W.3d 554, 557 (Mo. App., W.D. 1999).  When language is ambiguous or when it leads to an illogical result, we may look past the plain and ordinary meaning of a statute.   Angoff v. M & M Management Corp., 897 S.W.2d 649, 653 (Mo. App., W.D. 1995).
A penal statute, such as § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003, is to be strictly construed:  

But by the expression “strict construction” is meant that the scope of the statute shall not be extended by implication beyond the literal meaning of the terms employed, and not that the language of 
the terms shall be unreasonably interpreted.  Courts should neither enlarge nor narrow the true meaning of penal statutes by construction, but should give effect to the plain meaning of words and where they are doubtful, should adopt the sense in harmony with the context and the obvious policy and object of the enactment. 
Board v. Eurostyle, Inc., 998 S.W.2d at 814.  

On the other hand, the principal purpose of § 375.141, RSMo Supp. 2004, “is not to punish licensees or applicants but to protect the public from just the type of abuse of trust for which plaintiff was eventually convicted.”  Newman v. Melahn, 817 S.W.2d 588, 590 (Mo. App., E.D. 1991).  Such statutes “must be construed with a view to suppression of wrongs and mischiefs undertaken to be remedied.”   Bhuket v. Missouri Bd. of Regis'n for the Healing Arts, 787 S.W.2d 882, 885 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  Being enacted for the protection of the public, licensing laws are subject to liberal construction.  State ex rel. Webster v. Myers, 779 S.W.2d 286, 290 (Mo. App., W.D. 1989).  An ambiguous statute will not be interpreted to yield an unreasonable result.  State ex rel. School District of Kansas City v. Young, 519 S.W.2d 328, 
333 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1975).

Generally penal statutes are strictly construed to protect the individual who is the object of the penal action.  This principle is equally applicable to protect the public from a penal statute interfering with an official protecting the public under a remedial statute.

What became § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003, was a small section in the middle of a very large bill, repealing 50 statutes and enacting 42.  Those passing the bill could have easily missed the implications of what became § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003.  Also significant is that the legislature amended the statute the very next year, indicating that the statute’s ambiguity was quickly noticed and remedied.  The amendment provides that the action to be taken against the taxpayer’s license is a suspension, something indefinite and possibly temporary.  The amendment provides for notice to the licensee and the licensing agency when the tax delinquency has been remedied.  Clearly this is to allow the licensing agency to lift the suspension.  

Taking all this into consideration, we interpret the 2004 amendment to § 324.010, RSMo Supp. 2003, to be a clarification of that statute.  Mid-America Television Co. v. State Tax Comm’n, 652 S.W.2d 674, 679 (Mo. banc 1983).  Sections 324.010, RSMo Supp 2003 and 2004, intend the status of the license of the delinquent taxpayer to be no more than that of a “suspension,” that is, a temporary discontinuance of the licensee’s rights under the license but with the possibility, upon payment of taxes, of the licensee resuming his licensed status.  This interpretation allows the fulfillment of the penal purpose of §§ 324.010, RSMo Supp 2003 and 2004, and the remedial purpose of § 375.141.1, RSMo Supp. 2004.  The tax-delinquent licensee must still suffer the loss of his license while out of compliance with the tax laws.  To interpret 
§§ 324.010, RSMo Supp 2003 and 2004, the other way would impair the remedial purpose of 
§ 375.141, RSMo Supp. 2004, by placing the delinquent taxpayer’s license into a status beyond the reach of the Director's disciplinary powers.  That would harm the public interest without providing any further benefit to the tax laws, an unreasonable result.


Any revocation or suspension of Polsky’s license under § 324.010, RSMo Supp 2003 and 2004, does not moot the Director's authority to discipline the license once we determine cause for discipline under § 375.141.1, RSMo Supp. 2004.  We have jurisdiction.  
Cause for Discipline 

Count I

In Count I of the complaint, the Director seeks to discipline
 Polsky’s license because he was “convicted of a felony or crime involving moral turpitude, a ground for discipline under 
§ 375.141.1(3), RSMo (2000) and, alternatively, § 375.141.1(6), RSMo (Supp 2003).”    

The Director alleges that the convictions occurred on October 1, 2002, which Petitioner's Exhibit 2 shows to be the date of the indictment, not the date of conviction.  We do not believe this variance in proof deprives Polsky of his right to notice under due process of law.  He is to receive sufficient notice to allow him to prepare a defense.  Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch'ts, Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surv'rs, 744 S.W.2d 524, 538-39 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).   The Director identified the convictions as follows: 

6.  The facts are as follows:

a.  On or about October 1, 2002, Respondent was convicted of the crimes of mail fraud and wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 2 and 3571(d) in the United States District court for the Western District of Missouri; and, 

b.  Respondent was sentenced to incarceration for a term of 33 months and ordered to pay restitution in the amount of $990,494.68[.]
Polsky is presently serving his 33-month sentence at Leavenworth, which is where he was personally served with our notice of complaint/notice of hearing.  He has not filed any response to the complaint.  There is no indication that Polsky had any other convictions that could have been confused with the federal convictions for mail and wire fraud.  Despite the use of the date of the 
indictment instead of the date of conviction, the allegations were sufficient to alert Polsky to what convictions the Director was relying upon.    

We apply the substantive law in effect at the time the federal court imposed sentence.  Section 1.170; Comerio v. Beatrice Foods Co., 595 F. Supp. 918, 920-21 (E.D. Mo., 1984).  The imposition of sentence occurred on July 1, 2003.  Therefore, we apply § 375.141.1, RSMo Supp. 2004:


1.  The director may suspend, revoke, refuse to issue or refuse to renew an insurance producer license for any one or more of the following causes:
*   *   *


(6) Having been convicted of a felony or crime involving moral turpitude[.]


As to whether the convictions were felonies, 18 USC § 3559(a) provides:

(a) Classification.— An offense that is not specifically classified by a letter grade in the section defining it, is classified if the maximum term of imprisonment authorized is— 
*   *   *

(2) twenty-five years or more, as a Class B felony; 
*   *   *
(4) less than ten years but five or more years, as a Class D felony; 

Title 18 USC § 1341 provides a penalty of not more than five years for mail fraud, which makes the two convictions of mail fraud felonies under 18 USC § 3559(a)(4).  Title 18 USC § 1343 provides a penalty of not more than 30 years when the crime affects a financial institution, as occurred in Count 6, which makes the wire fraud conviction a felony under 18 USC § 3559(a)(2).  Therefore, Polsky is subject to discipline under § 375.141.1(6), RSMo Supp. 2004.
Moral turpitude is: 
an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.” 
In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  Mail fraud is a crime of moral turpitude.  Neibling v. Terry, 177 S.W.2d 502, 503 (Mo. banc 1944).  What makes this a crime of moral turpitude is the fraud.  In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d at 479.  Therefore, wire fraud is also a crime of moral turpitude.  Polsky is subject to discipline under § 375.141.1(6), RSMo Supp. 2004, on the additional basis that his convictions are for crimes of moral turpitude.
Count II

Under Count II, the Director alleges:


8.  Respondent has used fraudulent, coercive or dishonest practices or demonstrated incompetence, untrustworthiness or 

financial irresponsibility in the conduct of business in this state or elsewhere, a ground for discipline under § 375.141.1(4), RSMo (2000) and, alternatively, § 375.141.1(8), RSMo (Supp. 2003).

9.  The facts are as follows:


a.  Petitioner realleges paragraphs 1-6.


b.  As a result, sufficient grounds exist for disciplining Respondent’s license under § 375.141.1(4), RSMo (2000) and, alternatively, § 375.141.1(8), RSMo (Supp. 2003).

Paragraphs 1 through 6 do not allege any conduct.  Paragraphs 1 and 2 identify the parties to this action.  Paragraph 3 asserts that we have jurisdiction over this action.  Paragraph 4 realleges paragraphs 1 to 3.  Paragraphs 5 and 6 allege:


5.  Respondent has been convicted of a felony or crime involving moral turpitude, a ground for discipline under § 
375.141.1(3), RSMo (2000) and, alternatively, § 375.141.1(6), RSMo (Supp 2003).

6.  The facts are as follows:

a.  On or about October 1, 2002, Respondent was convicted of the crimes of mail fraud and wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 2 and 3571(d) in the United States District court for the Western District of Missouri; and, 

b.  Respondent was sentenced to incarceration for a term of 33 months and ordered to pay restitution in the amount of $990,494.68; and,

c  Respondent’s crimes are felonies or crimes involving moral turpitude; and,

d.  As a result, sufficient grounds exist for disciplining Respondent's insurance license pursuant to § 375.141.1(3), RSMo (2000) and, alternatively, § 375.141.1(6), RSMo (Supp. 2003).
The complaint must set forth the course of conduct and the law providing discipline for such conduct with enough specificity to allow the licensee to prepare a defense.  Duncan, 744 S.W.2d  at 538-39.  We cannot find discipline for uncharged conduct.  Missouri Dental Bd. v. Cohen, 867 S.W.2d 295, 297 (Mo. App., W.D. 1993).  Codifying these requirements, our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.350(2) requires of agency complaints:

(A) An agency’s complaint shall set forth—

*   *   *


3.  Any fact supporting the relief that the agency seeks, including any conduct that a licensee has committed that is cause for discipline, with sufficient specificity to enable the licensee to address the charge at hearing[.]

The allegations under Count II set forth no conduct except that a federal court convicted Polsky of crimes and sentenced him.  The Director alleges no conduct of Polsky and incorporates no document into the complaint that sets forth any offending conduct by Polsky.


We dismiss Count II for failure to allege facts showing any misconduct on the part of Polsky.
Summary


There is cause to discipline Polsky under § 375.141.1(6), RSMo Supp. 2004, because he was convicted of two counts of mail fraud and one count of wire fraud.  

We dismiss Count II.


SO ORDERED on June 23, 2005.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP 


Commissioner

	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.


	�This action was in response to L. 2001, S.B. 193 (91st Gen. Assem., 1st Reg. Sess.), which converted insurance agent licenses to insurance producer licenses, effective January 1, 2003.  Section A, § 375.014, and § B.


	�We use the term “unfit” to mean any licensee for whom the Director has cause to discipline under the causes set forth in § 375.141.1, RSMo Supp. 2004.
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